Case No. 2017 AP 002288 RECEIVED In the 10-18-2019 CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS Court of Appeals District III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Orders Denying Postconviction Relief and Additional Scientific Testing Entered in the Circuit Court of Manitowoc County, Case Number: 2005CF000381. The Honorable **Angela W. Sutkiewicz**, Presiding Judge.

CORRECTED BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT STEVEN A. AVERY

KATHLEEN T. ZELLNER *Admitted Pro Hac Vice* KATHLEEN T. ZELLNER & ASSOCIATES, PC 1901 Butterfield Road Suite 650 Downers Grove, Illinois 60515 (630) 955-1212

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Avery's motion to vacate its October 3, 2017, order and allow additional scientific testing?

The circuit court answered: No.

II. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in summarily dismissing Mr. Avery's second motion pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 974.06 without addressing the 5 *Brady* claims raised and in subsequently denying Mr. Avery's Motion to Supplement which raised a 6th *Brady* claim all of which deprived him of due process, in violation of the Wisconsin and United States Constitution?

The circuit court did not address the 5 *Brady* claims. The circuit court answered: No to the 6th *Brady* claim.

III. Did the circuit court err as a matter of law in failing to address Mr. Avery's claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel?

The circuit court answered: No.

IV. Did the circuit court err, as a matter of law, in ruling that it was not authorized by statute to resolve claims of ineffective assistance of prior counsel, and that Mr. Avery would have to pursue that claim with the Court of Appeals pursuant to *State v. Knight* 168 Wis.2d 509, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992)?

The circuit court answered: No.

V. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in dismissing Mr. Avery's second motion pursuant to Wis. Stats.§ 974.06 without requiring the State to respond or conduct an evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court answered: No.

VI. Did the Circuit Court err as a matter of law in applying the wrong standard to the newly discovered evidence?

The circuit court answered: No.

VII. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in ruling that the second motion of Mr. Avery pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 974.06, failed to show a sufficient reason as to why these issues could not have been raised in prior motions and is therefore barred by *State v. Escalona-Naranjo* 185 Wis.2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994)?

The circuit court answered: No.

VIII. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Avery's motion to reconsider and his three supplements to said motion, which included new evidence developed after his original filing on June 7, 2017?

The circuit court answered: No.

IX. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion in ignoring the subsequent briefs submitted by the parties incident to the Motion to Supplement?

The circuit court answered: No.

 X. Did the circuit court abuse its discretion by denying Mr. Avery's supplemental § 974.06 motion for new trial pertaining to the discovery of human bones in the Manitowoc County Gravel Pit southwest of the supposed crime scene?

The circuit court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.22 (2009–10), Appellant requests oral argument to facilitate review of the complex legal issues raised herein, some of which are believed to be of first impression. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. Rule § 809.23 (2017–18), a publication is warranted because the case is of interest to the public and raises issues believed to be of first impression.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. THE STATE'S CASE

In the 4 months before her murder, 25-year-old Teresa Halbach ("Ms. Halbach") had been to the Avery salvage yard to take photographs of vehicles 5 times (June 20, 2005, August 22, 2005, August 29, 2005, September 19, 2005 and October 10, 2005). (194:2; 694:22–24).¹ Ms. Halbach worked for *AutoTrader* magazine and had her own photography business. (696:165–66). *AutoTrader* is a magazine that contains advertisements and photos of automobiles for sale.

Steven Avery ("Mr. Avery") had arranged hustle shots with Ms. Halbach previously by calling her cell phone directly, as he did on October 10, 2005. (264:1; 694:96). Because hustle shots were not pre-arranged, the *AutoTrader* office did not know about such shots until after they occurred, when the billing took place. (694:56). A photographer earned more from a hustle shot than a shot pre-arranged through *AutoTrader*. (694:45–46). Ms. Halbach did many such hustle shots. (694:56, 100).

¹Citations to the record on appeal appear with the document number before the colon and the page number after the colon. A citation to 429:16, for instance, refers this Court to page 16 of document 429. Citations to different documents in the record are separated by semicolons. Where available, parallel citations to the Separate Appendix appear in separate parentheticals after the citations to the record. Mr. Avery shall cite to the concurrently filed Separate Appendix as "App. [page number(s)]." Mr. Avery shall cite to exhibits from his 2007 trial as "T.E. [exhibit number]" pursuant to direction from this Court. For purposes of this appeal, Mr. Avery shall refer to the Manitowoc County Circuit Court that heard his trial as the "trial court." Mr. Avery shall refer to the specially assigned Sheboygan County Circuit Court that ruled on his most recent motions as the "circuit court."

A. The State's timeline for October 31, 2005 and witnesses

8:12 a.m.: According to the State, Mr. Avery called *AutoTrader* and spoke with Dawn Pliszka ("Ms. Pliszka"), the *AutoTrader* receptionist, in an attempt "to lure" Ms. Halbach to the Avery salvage yard by setting up a photo shoot appointment for his sister Barb Dassey's ("Barb") Plymouth van. Mr. Avery called from his cell phone (920) 323-4038. Ms. Pliszka testified that the caller left the telephone number, (920) 755-8715, the landline number for the Dassey-Janda residence, and the Dassey-Janda address, 12930A Avery Road. (694:76–78; 258:1).

9:46 a.m.: Ms. Pliszka testified about an incoming call from *AutoTrader* to Ms. Halbach, allegedly leaving the Dassey-Janda phone number and their address. (316:1; 694:79).

11:43 a.m.: Ms. Halbach called the Dassey-Janda number, (920) 755-8715, and left a message on their answering machine, which stated, "I don't have your address or anything, so I can't stop by without getting--a call back from you." (702:159–60; 763:1–2; T.E. 218).

1:10 p.m.: Ms. Halbach arrived at Steven Schmitz's ("Mr. Schmitz") residence. The State presented an incorrect timeline to the jury, based upon Mr. Schmitz's erroneous recollection that he received a call from Ms. Halbach at 1:10 p.m. (694:122–23; 621:63). Ms. Halbach's phone records show that she called Mr. Schmitz at 12:51 p.m. (315:1). Therefore, contrary to the State's timeline,

Ms. Halbach arrived twenty minutes earlier at the Schmitz residence than the State represented to the jury. (715:88).

2:12 p.m.: Ms. Halbach called the Zipperer residence and left a voicemail on the Zipperer answering machine stating that she could not find their residence. (694:134; 715:88). This voicemail is missing and was never turned over to trial defense counsel. (603:150–51, at ¶ 297; 621:143-44).

2:24 p.m.: The State claimed that, as part of Mr. Avery's effort to lure Ms. Halbach to his property, Mr. Avery used "the *67, or blocked feature, where the recipient of that call can't tell who is calling." (705:154). Ms. Halbach did not answer this telephone call, and Mr. Avery did not leave a message.

2:27 p.m.: Ms. Halbach spoke to Ms. Pliszka and allegedly informed her that she was on her way to the Avery property. The State provided no explanation of how the unanswered 2:24 p.m. *67 call would have lured Ms. Halbach to the Avery property. Three minutes later, Ms. Halbach told Ms. Pliszka that she was on the way to the Avery property at 2:27 p.m. (694:80). The State never explained how Ms. Halbach learned of the Dassey-Janda address. The telephone records of *AutoTrader*, Ms. Halbach, and Mr. Avery do not show contact between Ms. Halbach and Mr. Avery from 11:43 a.m. to 2:27 p.m. (314:1–2; 315:1–2; 621:189). Ms. Halbach's text and computer messages were never retrieved by the State.

2:35 p.m.: Mr. Avery placed the second *67 call at 2:35 p.m., but the call was never connected. (705:155–56).

2:32–2:45 p.m.: The State's primary witness was Bobby Dassey ("Bobby"), who testified that he was asleep and woke up around 2:30 p.m. and looked out of the kitchen window of the Dassey-Janda residence. Bobby testified that he saw Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 pull up, Ms. Halbach exit the vehicle, and start taking pictures of the Dassey-Janda van. (689:38–39). When Ms. Halbach finished photographing the van, Bobby saw her "walking up towards Uncle Steve's trailer." (689:38; 715:91). Bobby then took a shower, and when he left the property at about 2:45 p.m. to go bow hunting, he saw that Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 was still on the property but he did not see her. (689:38–40). Based upon Bobby's testimony, the State claimed that Mr. Avery was the last person to see Ms. Halbach alive. (696:51).

2:41–2:43 p.m.: Ms. Halbach's records indicate that a call was actively forwarded at 2:41 p.m. using the Call Forward No Answer feature ("CFNA"). After the 2:41 p.m. call on October 31, there are no other CFNA messages left; rather, the subsequent calls are voicemails without CFNA. (315:1). The 2:41 p.m. call to Ms. Halbach's phone pinged off of the Whitelaw tower, which was 7.8 miles from the Avery property. (315:1).

3:00 p.m.: Scott Tadych ("Mr. Tadych"), Barb's boyfriend, testified that at about 3:00 p.m., he went bow hunting in Kewaunee, and, as he drove on Highway 147 going west, he saw Bobby driving east. (705:124).

3:46–3:47 p.m.: Bobby's brother, Blaine Dassey ("Blaine"), testified that at approximately 3:46 p.m. or 3:47 p.m., after he got off the school bus and was

walking home, he saw Mr. Avery place a plastic bag in his burn barrel, and the barrel had white "smoke and flames" coming out of it. (705:67, 81). The State Prosecutor, Kenneth Kratz ("Prosecutor Kratz") claimed that, by 4:35 p.m., Mr. Avery had burned Ms. Halbach's electronic devices in his burn barrel. (715:93–94).

4:35 p.m.: According to the State, Mr. Avery placed an "alibi call" to Ms. Halbach's phone from his landline. (715:93–94).

4:45 p.m.-dusk: Mr. Robert Fabian, a friend of Earl Avery's ("Earl"), testified that he saw smoke and smelled plastic being burned in Mr. Avery's burn barrel around dusk. (705:114–16).

7:30–7:45 p.m.: Mr. Tadych testified that he saw a large fire in Mr. Avery's burn pit with flames reaching above the roof of the garage, and he saw Mr. Avery standing by the fire. (705:130–31). The State claimed that Ms. Halbach was already murdered by this point and Mr. Avery was in the process of "destroying, mutilating and burning her body" in his burn pit. (715:95).

11:00 p.m.: When Blaine got home from trick-or-treating, he testified that he saw "Steven Avery sitting there watching the fire," and that the flames were about 4 or 5 feet. (705:70-71).²

²The State failed to identify the following calls on October 31, 2005: 8:17 a.m. from AutoTrader to Ms. Halbach, 8:39 a.m. from Mr. Avery to Bobby, 10:44 a.m. from Denise Heitl ("Ms. Heitl") to Ms. Halbach, 10:52 a.m. from AutoTrader to Ms. Halbach, 11:04 a.m. from Mr. Avery to AutoTrader, 11:35 a.m from Ms. Halbach to Ms. Heitl.; and 12:44 p.m. from Steven Speckman ("Mr. Speckman") to Ms. Halbach. (315:2; 316:1; 630:150, 153; App. 295, 298; 315:2).

B. The State's forensic evidence³

The State's case against Mr. Avery was based almost exclusively on circumstantial forensic evidence. The critical facts related to the State's forensic evidence are as follows:

November 5, 2005: Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 was discovered on the Southeast corner of the Avery property by two civilian searchers, Pamela Sturm ("Pam") and her daughter Nicole Sturm ("Nicole"), within 30 to 35 minutes of their arrival. (694:230). According to the State, the speed with which Pam located Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 on the Avery salvage yard was attributable to "the hand of God." (715:39). Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 was locked and partially obscured by branches, plywood, and an old vehicle hood. According to the State, the RAV-4's battery had been disconnected to prevent the alarm from being activated. (716:95–96). The State argued that it was readily apparent that Mr. Avery intended to crush Ms. Halbach's RAV-4 simply because the RAV-4 was found in the vicinity of the car crusher. (715:38). Also, the State contended that the RAV-4 could not have been driven onto the Avery property from the Radandt Pit because of the 15–20 foot-high berm immediately to the south of the RAV-4,

³ The State presented the following experts at trial: John Ertl ("Mr. Ertl"), DNA analyst; Ronald Groffy ("Mr. Groffy"), forensic imaging specialist; Sherry Culhane ("Ms. Culhane"), DNA analyst; Nick Stahlke ("Mr. Stahlke"), blood spatter analyst; Dr. Donald Simley ("Dr. Simley"), forensic odontologist; Dr. Leslie Eisenberg ("Dr. Eisenberg"), forensic anthropologist; Curtis Thomas ("Mr. Thomas"), electronics engineer; William Newhouse ("Mr. Newhouse"), firearms and toolmarks examiner; Kenneth Olson ("Mr. Olson"), trace evidence examiner; Dr. Jeffrey Jentzen ("Dr. Jentzen"), forensic pathologist; Dr. Marc LeBeau ("Dr. LeBeau"), chemist; Michael Riddle ("Mr. Riddle"), fingerprint identification analyst; Anthony Zimmerman ("Mr. Zimmerman"), Cingular network engineer; and Bobbie Dohrwardt ("Ms. Dohrwardt"), Cellcom technical support analyst.

which would have prevented entry from the Radandt Pit onto the Avery property. (715:53–54).

November 6, 2005: Deputy David Siders found a tire rim in Mr. Avery's burn barrel. (700:153). Underneath the tire rim Ms. Halbach's electronic devices were discovered, including her Motorola V3 RAZR ("RAZR") cell phone, the circuit board for her Palm Zire 31 palm pilot, and components of her Canon PowerShot A310 digital camera. (715:65–66; 700:155–56). Inexplicably, there were unburned cans and unscorched foliage in the burn barrel. (648:1–2; T.E. 156).

November 7, 2005: The Wisconsin State Crime Lab ("WSCL") discovered 5 small blood drops in Ms. Halbach's vehicle. (604:91–97; T.E. 294). A DNA profile of Mr. Avery was obtained from these drops. (604:94–97; 699:186–96).

November 8, 2005: Human bones, a tooth root fragment, and rivets from a pair of jeans were found in the burn pit behind Mr. Avery's garage, and a RAV-4 key was found in Mr. Avery's trailer. (706:19; 700:55–56; 701:129–30). Mr. Avery's DNA profile was recovered from the RAV-4 key. (699:182–83). The RAV-4 license plates were discovered in another vehicle at the Avery salvage yard during a search by a volunteer. The male DNA on the plates was insufficient to develop a full DNA profile. (695:2–5, 227).

November 9, 2005: Mr. Avery is arrested and charged with possession of a firearm by a felon. (4:1–4; 242:1).

11

November 15, 2005: Mr. Avery is arrested and charged with first degree intentional homicide for the Halbach murder. (4:1–4; 242:1).

March 1–2, 2006: Based on Brendan Dassey's ("Brendan") alleged confessions, law enforcement conducted a search of Mr. Avery's garage and discovered fragments of 2 .22-caliber bullets ("#FL and #FK") that had somehow gone undetected during 6 previous searches (November 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, and 12, 2005). (695:185–86, 199-200). Prosecutor Kratz held 2 press conferences where he disclosed, in great detail, Brendan's confession. (646:5).

March 8, 2006: The State filed an amended information adding the charges of sexual assault, kidnapping, and false imprisonment counts. (32:1–5).

April 3, 2006: The hood latch of the RAV-4 was swabbed. (700:210).

May 8, 2006: Ms. Culhane confirmed that #FL had Ms. Halbach's DNA on it, and the profile developed from the RAV-4 hood latch matched Mr. Avery's DNA. (699:168, 176).

June 15, 2006: The State attempted to interject 9 items of "other acts" evidence into its prosecution to corroborate the amended information filed on March 8, 2006. The 9 acts consisted of 2 alleged acts of physical violence against women and 1 against a cat, 1 act of reckless endangerment, 1 act of a convicted felon in possession of a firearm, and 3 alleged acts of improper sexual behavior, and 1 act of a phone conversation of an alleged sexual nature. (156:1–17).

September 22, 2006: The trial court ruled against the State's 9 other acts evidence, holding that it failed to find any meaningful relationship between the other acts evidence and the charged offenses. In the trial court's opinion, the other acts evidence had virtually "zero probative value," would be highly prejudicial, and was clearly inadmissible. (156:1–17).

February 2, 2007: The State filed a second amended information dropping the charges for sexual assault and kidnapping. At the beginning of the trial, the State convinced the court to instruct the jury about a party-to-a-crime theory of accomplice liability as to the homicide, mutilation of a corpse, and false imprisonment charges then to be tried. (696:25–26).

Mr. Avery's Blood in the RAV-4 Was Not Planted

Approximately 1–2 milliliters of Mr. Avery's blood, allegedly from an actively bleeding finger, was discovered in the RAV-4 in 5 places, *i.e.*, on the driver's and passenger's seats, rear passenger door jamb, CD case, and by the ignition. Blood flakes were found on top of the driver's side carpet. There was no corresponding stain under the blood flakes. (699:144–48; 705:27).

The State claimed that no one in law enforcement had access to Mr. Avery's blood prior to November 5, 2005, to plant it. (716:112). The blood from Mr. Avery's bathroom was collected after the RAV-4 was removed from the Avery property. (716:87). Also, the State argued that trial defense counsel had failed to demonstrate exactly how the police could have planted Mr. Avery's

13

blood in the RAV-4 because of "the sheer volume" and "sheer number of places" where the blood was discovered. (715:58–59, 118, 121).

Prosecutor Kratz emphasized that Mr. Avery's DNA profile from his blood in Ms. Halbach's vehicle came from the cut on the middle finger of his right hand, which occurred during his struggle with Ms. Halbach. (715:118). The State's blood spatter expert, Mr. Stahlke, agreed in his testimony that the ignition stain (648:1–2; T.E. 291) was consistent with somebody who could be actively bleeding on their right hand. (704:220–21; 648:1–2). In his closing, Prosecutor Kratz stated that the stain was "absolutely consistent with somebody with a cut to the outside of the right hand and turning an ignition. . . ." (715:62).

The State, through its expert, Dr. LeBeau, attempted to rule out the 1996 blood vial as the source of Mr. Avery's blood in the RAV-4. The blood in the 1996 tube was preserved by using EDTA. Dr. LeBeau tested 3 of the 6 swabs from the RAV-4 and claimed there was no EDTA in them. (709:48).

Ms. Halbach's Blood in the RAV-4

Mr. Stahlke, the State's blood spatter expert, claimed that, after Ms. Halbach had been shot, she was thrown into the rear cargo of the RAV-4, causing impact spatter on the inside of the rear cargo door. (704:227–29; 648:1–2; T.E. 299). According to Mr. Stahlke, Ms. Halbach left a hair imprint from her bloodied head on the side panel of the interior of the rear cargo area: "[T]he bloody hair component; however, it is consistent with a bloody object such as a body being

comploded (phonetic) into the rear end of this vehicle." (704:229; 648:1–2; T.E. 296–97). There was no mixture of Mr. Avery and Ms. Halbach's blood, even though Mr. Avery allegedly tossed Ms. Halbach in the RAV-4 as he was "actively bleeding" from his right middle finger.

Despite the blood in the interior of the RAV-4 being linked to Mr. Avery, there were no fingerprints of Mr. Avery on the interior or exterior of the RAV-4 even though the State's fingerprint expert, Mr. Riddle, claimed that someone with "sweaty hands" was more likely to leave prints than someone with dry hands. (711:103). Prosecutor Kratz contended that Mr. Avery touched the hood latch with sweaty hands that left his DNA profile. (715:119–20). Mr. Riddle testified that he discovered 8 latent prints on the RAV-4 "that were suitable for comparison." (711:110). One of the 8 latents contained a palm print. (711:146). The latent prints were located where the key for the cargo gate is inserted, along the pillar that goes above the taillight assembly, on the other side of the wheel cover, inside a rear passenger window, and on the hood. (711:143–44). Mr. Avery was not matched to any of the 8 latent prints. (711:144). The State never claimed that Mr. Avery was wearing gloves.

Mr. Riddle was never asked to examine the shell casings found in Mr. Avery's garage for fingerprints. The shell casings were never linked to #FL. (711:120–21). A blood stain (#A-23) from a male on the rear cargo door of the RAV-4 did not match Mr. Avery either. (704:88–89).

No Blood of Ms. Halbach in Mr. Avery's Trailer, Garage or on the .22 LR Marlin Glenfield.

There was no blood of Ms. Halbach in Mr. Avery's trailer, garage, or on the .22 LR Marlin Glenfield in his bedroom that was allegedly used to shoot Ms. Halbach in the head. (700:96–98; 704:34).

Mr. Avery's DNA on the RAV-4 Key

Between November 5–9, 2005, there were 7 searches of Mr. Avery's trailer. On the 6th entry, on November 8, Ms. Halbach's Toyota key was observed for the first time next to Mr. Avery's bookcase in his bedroom. (701:129–30). The State contended that Mr. Avery kept the key so that he could move the RAV-4 to crush it.

During the November 8 search of Mr. Avery's bedroom, Manitowoc County Sheriff's Department ("MCSD") Sergeant Andrew Colborn ("Sgt. Colborn") conducted an hour-long search of Mr. Avery's small bookcase. (701:123). Sgt. Colborn testified that he tipped and twisted the bookcase, pulling it away from the wall. (701:126). Sgt. Colborn testified that he forcefully pushed the photo album into the bookcase, causing the Toyota key to fall out the back of the shelf. Sgt. Colborn never explained how the key moved from behind the shelf to a spot on the northwest side of the bookcase by Mr. Avery's slippers. (701:125–31).

During Sgt. Colborn's interaction with the bookcase, MCSD Lieutenant James Lenk ("Lt. Lenk") left the bedroom. (701:129–30). When Lt. Lenk returned, he noticed a Toyota key had suddenly appeared by the northwest side of the bookcase on the carpet. (702:12–13; 196:2; Img. 25). Neither side subpoenaed the bookcase for trial. (716:84–85).

The State admitted that even if the key was planted, as trial defense counsel claimed, the jury should "set the key aside" because there was "enough other evidence of Mr. Avery's guilt" and "that key, in the big picture, in the big scheme of things here, means very little." (716:64).

The State relied upon Ms. Culhane to explain the absence of Ms. Halbach's DNA on her own key by explaining that the last person to handle the key was the most likely source of the DNA. (704:104). Ms. Culhane testified that there was no mixture of Ms. Halbach and Mr. Avery's DNA on the key because, "[I]f you have someone who's a good shedder and sheds a lot of DNA when they touch something, a lot of studies show that is going to be—the last person is going to be the DNA you pick up." (704:104).

Ms. Halbach's Body Burned in Mr. Avery's Burn Pit

The State relied upon the testimony of forensic anthropologist Dr. Eisenberg to claim that Ms. Halbach was burned in Mr. Avery's burn pit. (715:104–05). Dr. Eisenberg testified that the primary burning episode was in the burn pit behind Mr. Avery's garage and that "at least a fragment or more of almost every bone below the neck was recovered in that burn pit." (706:166; 707:43). Dr. Eisenberg stated on cross-examination that "[t]here is evidence from the Avery

property that there was transport of human bone. And I believe that transport occurred from the original burn pit and adjacent areas, to barrel number two," which was the Dassey-Janda burn barrel. (707:37).

Dr. Eisenberg identified the bones designated by Calumet County evidence tag #8675 ("#8675") as being located southwest from the Avery property, which is called the Manitowoc County Gravel Pit (#8675). (321:2; 707:10). Dr. Eisenberg testified that her second report was a spreadsheet of tag numbers and the evidence collected under each tag number. (706:221).

Dr. Eisenberg admitted that 1 bone fragment (#8675) from the Manitowoc County Gravel Pit appeared to be a human pelvic bone with "a long, linear cut on either side of those two bones that were still in proximity." (707:18–19). Dr. Eisenberg, in describing the "suspected" human pelvic bone, stated that "it was clearly a joint articulation at the right side of the pelvis where the pelvis meets the lower part of the spine." (707:11). In the closing, Prosecutor Kratz stated that he would take "20 seconds" to talk about the "possible human" pelvic bone in the Manitowoc County Gravel Pit. (716:78). He said that these bones were "possibl[y] human" so "[i]t means that we don't know what it is," "Dr. Eisenberg didn't know what they were," and "Dr. Fairgrieve didn't know what they were." (716:78–79). Dr. Scott Fairgrieve ("Dr. Fairgrieve") was trial defense counsel's forensic anthropology expert.

Some larger human bones were found in the Dassey-Janda burn barrel Evidence Tag 7964 ("#7964"). Dr. Eisenberg described a human scapula, portions of a spinal column, metacarpals, and a fragment of long-bones in the Dassey-Janda burn barrel. (706:231–33). The bones found in the Dassey-Janda burn barrel (#7964) also exhibited evidence of cut marks. (756:29). Dr. Eisenberg claimed that when she opened the container of bones from the Dassey-Janda burn barrel (#7964), she got a "waft of flammable liquid or fluid," but did not smell burned rubber from tires. (707:6–7). Prosecutor Kratz admitted the bones were moved, but claimed "the big bones" were moved by Mr. Avery from his burn pit to the Dassey-Janda burn barrel "a couple hundred feet away." (716:75–76).

SA Thomas Sturdivant ("SA Sturdivant") testified that the burn pit bones were "intertwined or mixed" in with the steel belt from the tires. (706:19). Prosecutor Kratz stated in his closing, "The bones being intertwined and mixed in is the State's, or one of the State's, strongest argument for this being the primary burn site." (715:97).

The State claimed Wisconsin Department of Justice Division of Criminal Investigation ("DCI") Agent Rodney Pevytoe ("Agent Pevytoe") ruled out the smelter and the woodburner as other possible burn sites on the Avery property. (715:99–100).

The State called DCI Agent Kevin Heimerl ("Agent Heimerl") to testify that the investigators found 5, out of the standard 6, jean rivets marked "Daisy Fuentes" in Mr. Avery's burn pit. (698:161–62; 648:1–2; T.E. 275). The State referenced Katie Halbach's ("Katie") testimony that Ms. Halbach had Daisy Fuentes brand jeans that were missing after her disappearance. (699:39–40).

Cause of Death: 2 Gunshots to Head

The State claimed that Mr. Avery backed Ms Halbach's RAV-4 into his garage, closed the garage door, placed Ms. Halbach in the rear cargo area, then removed her from the RAV-4, laid her on the garage floor, and shot her in the left side and back of her head. (716:98–99). Dr. Eisenberg testified that the defect in the parietal bone, above the left ear, showed the characteristic sign of an entrance bullet wound (648:1–2; T.E. 391; T.E. 392), and a second defect in the occipital region showed Ms. Halbach was also shot in the back of the head with a .22 caliber gun. (715:128; 706:172–73; 648:1–2; T.E. 393, 395). Additionally, the State relied upon Mr. Olson, a trace metal expert, who testified that x-rays of the skull defects in the parietal region showed particles of lead. (715:128; 703:15).

On November 6, 2005, 11 spent shell casings were found in Mr. Avery's garage but were never forensically linked to #FL or #FK or any items of evidence in the case. (702:207–08). The State claimed that Mr. Avery cleaned the garage, but his DNA was detected on the garage floor. (699:170–71).

Ms. Halbach's DNA on Bullet (#FL)

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