RECEIVED
05-27-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2017AP2288

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

STEVEN A. AVERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDERS DENYING MULTIPLE MOTIONS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MANITOWOC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ANGELA W. SUTKIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1221 (608) 294-2907 (Fax)

Page		
17	Avery's allegation that postconviction counsels were ineffective was insufficiently pled and meritless	3.
18	a. Law governing ineffective assistance of counsel	
19	b. Avery did not show that postconviction counsels were ineffective.	
19	(1) Law governing ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel as a sufficient reason	
20	(2) Avery's allegations about postconviction counsels were conclusory and meritless	
22	(i) Avery's claims about the Zipperer CD, Radandt's alleged conversation, and the flyover video were insufficiently pled	
24	(ii) Avery's claims about ineffective assistance of trial counsel were insufficiently pled and conclusively refuted by the record.	
are riately in his	(a) Several of Avery's of about trial counsel misframed, inappropriated, or not argued brief.	
ounsel ant a	(b) Avery's remaining ineff assistance of trial co claims did not warra hearing	

	Page

(c) Avery failed to sufficiently
plead that Hagopian and
Askins were ineffective for
failing to raise his new
ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims48
B. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying without a hearing
Avery's claims related to the 2016 and
2017 scientific testing 52
1. Legal standard and standard of review
for newly discovered evidence claims 56
2. The circuit court properly rejected
Avery's claims related to the DNA
testing
3. Avery's arguments do not persuade 67
II. Nothing required the circuit court to allow Avery to pursue his claims piecemeal, so it
appropriately denied his October 6, 2017
motion for relief from judgment
A. The circuit court reasonably explained its
decision denying Avery's motion to vacate
judgment71
B. Avery improperly argues for the first time
on appeal that the court's refusal to vacate its judgment violated the 2007
preservation and testing order;
nevertheless, the claim is meritless 72
1. Avery forfeited his argument that the
2007 preservation order allowed him to
pursue his claims piecemeal
2. The 2007 preservation order does not give Avery a license to pursue available
claims piecemeal

III. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it denied the claims raised in Avery's motion for reconsideration as procedurally barred	Page	
for motions for reconsideration	75	discretion when it denied the claims raised in Avery's motion for reconsideration as
its discretion to deny Avery's motion for reconsideration	77	
the claims raised in Avery's motion for reconsideration were procedurally barred	78	its discretion to deny Avery's motion for
claims about Heitl and Rahmlow, which are nevertheless meritless	78	the claims raised in Avery's motion for reconsideration were procedurally
discretion when it denied, without a hearing, Avery's July 2018 motion regarding Detective Velie's compilation of items copied from the Dassey computer	85	claims about Heitl and Rahmlow,
discretion in denying Avery's March 2019 motion without a hearing	89	discretion when it denied, without a hearing, Avery's July 2018 motion regarding Detective Velie's compilation of
because he has not established a sufficient reason for not bringing his claim in any of his prior postconviction motions	101	discretion in denying Avery's March 2019
 B. If this Court chooses not to apply the procedural bar, Avery's claim is not cognizable on collateral review. C. Even if Youngblood applied to the postconviction destruction of evidence, 	102	because he has not established a sufficient reason for not bringing his claim in any of
postconviction destruction of evidence,		B. If this Court chooses not to apply the procedural bar, Avery's claim is not
pleading burden 11	110	postconviction destruction of evidence, which it does not, Avery has not met his

Page
VI. This Court lacks jurisdiction to review Avery's motion to compel discovery
CONCLUSION
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Cases
A.O. Smith Corp. v. Allstate Ins. Companies, 222 Wis. 2d 475, 588 N.W.2d 285 (Ct. App. 1998) 9, 28
Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988)
Binder v. City of Madison, 72 Wis. 2d 613, 241 N.W.2d 613 (1976)
Bode v. Buchman, 68 Wis. 2d 276, 228 N.W.2d 718 (1975)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)
California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 4796 (1984
City of Brookfield v. Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage Dist., 171 Wis. 2d 400, 491 N.W.2d 484 (1992)
District Attorney's Office for the Third Judicial District v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52 (2009)
Dressler v. McCaughtry, 238 F.3d 908 (7th Cir. 2001)
Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86 (2011)
Hinton v. Alabama, 571 U.S. 263 (2014)

Page 7 of 130

Page
Howard v. Gramley, 225 F.3d 784 (7th Cir. 2000)
Hubanks v. Frank, 392 F.3d 926 (7th Cir. 2004)
In re Commitment of Bollig, 222 Wis. 2d 558, 587 N.W.2d 908 (Ct. App. 1998)
Jackson v. Baenen, 12-CV-00554, 2012 WL 5988414, (E.D. Wis. Nov. 29, 2012)
Johnson v. Johnson, 157 Wis. 2d 490, 460 N.W.2d 166 (Ct. App. 1990)
Lee v. State, 65 Wis. 2d 648, 223 N.W.2d 455 (1974)
Mentek v. State, 71 Wis. 2d 799, 238 N.W.2d 752 (1976)
Midland Funding, LLC v. Mizinski, 2014 WI App 82, 355 Wis. 2d 475, 854 N.W.2d 371 77
Reid v. State, 984 N.E.2d 1264 (Ind. Ct. App. 2013)
Schessler v. Schessler, 179 Wis. 2d 781, 508 N.W.2d 65 (Ct. App. 1993) 80
Schonscheck v. Paccar, Inc., 2003 WI App 79, 261 Wis. 2d 769, 661 N.W.2d 476
Schreiber v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., 223 Wis. 2d 417, 588 N.W.2d 26 (1999)
Shaw v. Wilson, 721 F.3d 908 (7th Cir. 2013)
State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 105
State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard, 2014 WI 38, 354 Wis. 2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805 14, 15

Page
State ex rel. Macemon v. Christie, 216 Wis. 2d 337, 576 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1998)
State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998)
State v. (Aaron) Allen, 2010 WI 89, 328 Wis. 2d 1, 786 N.W.2d 124
State v. (John) Allen, 2004 WI 106, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433
State v. (Kevin) Harris, 2004 WI 64, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737 90, 93
State v. (Ronell) Harris, 2008 WI 15, 307 Wis. 2d 555, 745 N.W.2d 397 93, 94
State v. Arredondo, 2004 WI App 7, 269 Wis. 2d 369, 674 N.W.2d 647 18
State v. Avery, 2013 WI 13, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60
State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334
State v. Bembenek, 140 Wis. 2d 248, 409 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1987) 84
State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)